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I. Identity and Interest of Amicus  

The above-captioned matter involves an issue of importance to 

Washington Defense Trial Lawyers (“WDTL”).  In accordance with prior 

practices, WDTL provided notice to Washington State Association for 

Justice Foundation (“WSAJF”) of WDTL’s request to appear as amicus in 

this case. 

In accordance with RAP 10.6, WDTL submits the following 

information regarding this request:  

 1.  WDTL is an organization of trial lawyers in the State of 

Washington and has appeared pro bono before Washington state appellate 

courts as amicus curiae on a number of occasions.  The organization is 

devoted to, among other things, protecting the interests of defendants in 

civil litigation.   

 2.  Amicus WDTL is familiar with the issues raised in this 

case and with the scope of the argument presented in the briefs by the 

parties, including the Supplemental Briefs filed on December 7, 2018.  

 3.  If permitted to appear, WDTL will provide analysis and 

insight on whether bad faith and Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”) 

damages imposed on an insurance company should also be imposed on (or 
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threatened against) the insurance company’s counsel (“Carrier Counsel”) 

personally.
1
 

 4.  Amicus WDTL believes that additional analysis is 

necessary and would be helpful to provide this Court with broader 

perspectives from WDTL members with a strong interest in providing 

zealous representation to all of their clients, including insurance company 

clients, free from harassment and the risk of personal exposure. 

5.  As permitted by RAP 10.6(b), WDTL’s amicus curiae brief 

is being filed contemporaneously with this motion. 

II. Statement of the Case 

 For the purposes of this amicus brief, WDTL adopts and relies 

upon the Statement of the Case set forth in Petitioner’s Supplemental Brief 

at 2-4. 

III. Argument 

 The decision by the Court of Appeals in Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. 

Co., 3 Wn. App. 2d 31, 413 P.3d 1059 (2018) (the “Keodalah decision”) 

greatly expands Washington law to impose bad faith liability on “all 

persons engaged in the business of insurance,” including individual 

                                                 
1
 Carrier Counsel are those attorneys retained by insurance companies to 

represent the insurance companies themselves, as opposed to defense counsel  
retained by insurance companies to represent their insureds in lawsuits brought 
against those insureds. 
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employee insurance adjusters based on RCW 48.01.030.  The Court of 

Appeals reasoned that representatives of insurances companies, as well as 

those companies themselves, owe an actionable duty of good faith to 

insureds.  This decision is a Pandora’s Box that raises significant public 

policy concerns.   

 WDTL writes to address the concern that insureds will assert bad 

faith and CPA claims against Carrier Counsel
 
as “persons engaged in the 

business of insurance” based on the Keodalah decision.  This concern is 

not fanciful.  Already, at least two lawsuits have been filed that assert bad 

faith and CPA claims against Carrier Counsel.  Scudder v. GEICO, et al., 

No. 18-2-28028-1 SEA (King County Superior Ct., filed November 7, 

2018) (Carrier Counsel retained to represent GEICO and perform an 

examination under oath) (Appendix A); Sharp v. State Farm Mut. Auto. 

Ins. Co., et al., No. 2:18-cv-01863-RAJ (removed to the District Court for 

the Western District of Washington on December 28, 2018) (Carrier 

Counsel retained to represent State Farm with respect to coverage issues in 

auto accident case) (Appendix B).
2
 

                                                 
2
 Pursuant to ER 201, WDTL requests that this Court take judicial notice 

of the filing of and allegations in Scudder, No. 18-2-28028-1 SEA (Appendix A) 
and Sharp, No. 2:18-cv-01863-RAJ (Appendix B). 
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A. Neither Carrier Counsel nor attorneys retained by insureds should 

be liable for “bad faith” in connection with an insurance claim. 

 An insurer has a quasi-fiduciary duty to act in good faith toward its 

insured.  Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 176 Wn.2d 686, 696, 

295 P.3d 239 (2013).  This duty imposes, among other things, a 

responsibility to give equal consideration to the insured’s interests.  St. 

Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc., 165 Wn.2d 122, 129, 196 P.3d 

664 (2008).  A further expansion of this obligation to Carrier Counsel 

would create conflicts with the duty that counsel owe their clients, deprive 

insurance companies of adequate representation and undermine public 

confidence in the legal system.  

The duty of attorneys to their clients “is one of the strongest 

fiduciary relationships known to the law.”  In re Beakley, 6 Wn.2d 410, 

423, 107 P.2d 1097 (1940).  “The standards of the legal profession require 

undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his client.  No exceptions can be 

tolerated.”  Van Dyke v. White, 55 Wn.2d 601, 613, 349 P.2d 430 (1960).  

“Public policy prohibits an attorney from owing a duty to anyone other 

than the client when the collateral duty creates a risk of divided loyalty 

due to conflicts of interest or breaches of confidence.”  Mazon v. 

Krafchick, 158 Wn.2d 440, 448, 144 P.3d 1168 (2006) (alterations and 

internal quotations omitted) (quoting the Court of Appeals).  “The 
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undivided duty of loyalty means that each attorney owes a duty to pursue 

the case in the client’s best interests[.]”  Id. at 449.  See also RPC 1.7(a)(2) 

(a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation of that client 

may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to a third 

person).   

  If this Court affirms the Keodalah decision, then Carrier Counsel 

(and also attorneys representing insureds in insurance matters) may be 

sued for insurance bad faith by non-clients if that holding is expanded. 

Carrier Counsel would be put in an impossible position because the 

imposition of a quasi-fiduciary obligation to an insured is inconsistent 

with the fiduciary duty that attorneys owe to their clients.  In addition, 

counsel may be faced with an impermissible self-interest in protecting 

themselves from such suits, even when the client’s interests demand 

otherwise.  Discretionary, tactical decisions, such as whether to advise 

clients to defend an insured in a lawsuit, reserve rights, pay a potentially 

fraudulent claim, provide coverage, take an examination under oath, and 

whether to settle or risk proceeding to trial, could be fodder for a bad faith 

claim against the lawyer.  The increased exposure that Carrier Counsel 

would face creates a strong disincentive to undertake representation of 

insurance companies.  Cf. Kommavongsa v. Haskell, 149 Wn.2d 288, 310, 
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67 P.3d 1068 (2003) (noting the impact on availability of counsel in 

assessing the assignment of malpractice claims). 

 Similarly, attorneys representing insureds who may be suspected 

of having committed insurance fraud or arson will face conflicts if they 

can be sued by insurers for bad faith for presenting a claim that is 

determined to be fraudulent because the Keodalah decision made clear 

that insureds, too, have a duty of good faith.  See 3 Wn. App. 2d at 38 

(“Washington courts have expressly stated that the statute does impose a 

duty of good faith on both the insureds and the insurer.”).  For example, 

misstating facts in correspondence to an insurer in the presentation of a 

claim that turns out to be fraudulent could be the basis for a bad faith 

claim against the insured’s attorney under the rationale of the Keodalah 

decision.  

 Finally, Washington has a body of law addressing an attorney’s 

obligations to non-clients.  E.g., Stewart Title Guar. Co. v. Sterling Sav. 

Bank, 178 Wn.2d 561, 311 P.3d 1 (2013).  Any expansion of the duty of 

the insurance company’s duty to good faith to counsel would be 

inconsistent with this jurisprudence.
3
  It would also be inconsistent with 

                                                 
3
 As discussed in other briefing, the Court of Appeals should have 

applied that fundamental rule of agency law in this case that adequately protects 
insureds.  Brief of Amicus GEICO General Insurance Company  pp. 3-5.  The 
Court of Appeals also incorrectly implied a private statutory cause of action 
where there is none.  Id. pp. 6-7.  The insurer alone issues the insurance policy 
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the current law.  See Manteufel v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 117 Wn. App. 

168, 174, 68 P.3d 1093 (2003) (rejecting bad faith claim against Carrier 

Counsel). 

B. The CPA does not apply to Carrier Counsel in connection with an 

insurance claim. 

 The Keodalah decision permits an insured to assert a CPA claim 

against an individual adjuster.  An expansion of this holding to permit the 

insured to assert a CPA claim against Carrier Counsel would be 

inconsistent with existing Washington law.    

 The Washington Court of Appeals has held that an insured cannot 

assert a CPA claim against the Carrier Counsel, finding the claim to be 

frivolous and unfounded.  See Manteufel v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 117 

Wn. App. 168, 174, 177, 68 P.3d 1093 (2003). 

In Short v. Demopolis, 103 Wn.2d 52, 61, 691 P.2d 163 (1984), 

this Court held that the term “trade or commerce” used by the CPA only 

includes the entrepreneurial or commercial aspects of the professional 

practice of law, not the substantive quality of services provided.  Claims 

“directed to the competence of and strategy employed” by attorneys 

                                                                                                                         
and agrees to perform under that policy.  Although a duty of good faith may exist 
in the absence of actual contractual obligations, see generally Coventry 
Associates v. Am. States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998), the 
Keodalah decision moves far beyond this principle, impermissibly cutting the 
duty of good faith loose from its contractual moorings.   
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constitute allegations of negligence or malpractice in performing 

professional services and, as such, are not actionable under the CPA.  Id. 

at 61; Haberman v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn. 2d 107, 

169, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987), amended, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 750 P.2d 254 

(1988) (claims directed to competence of and strategy employed by 

attorneys constitute allegations of negligence or malpractice in performing 

professional services and, as such, are not actionable under the CPA); 

Quinn v. Connelly, 63 Wn. App. 733, 742, 821 P.2d 1256 (1992) (“The 

second element [of the CPA], ‘occurring in trade or commerce’, cannot be 

satisfied by claims directed at the competence or strategy of an attorney.  

Such claims amount to allegations of malpractice and are exempt from the 

Consumer Protection Act.”).  

C. Allowing insureds to pursue bad faith and Consumer Protection 

Act claims against attorneys is inconsistent with public policy of 

guarding against insurance fraud. 

The business of insurance involves many transactions that have the 

potential for fraud, abuse, and other activities.  Consequently, the 

Washington Legislature enacted RCW 48.30A.045, which requires 

insurance companies to institute and maintain antifraud plans to combat 

the problems associated with the presentation of false claims.  See also 

RCW 48.30A.005; RCW 48.30A.045-060.  Tran v. State Farm Fire & 

Cas. Co., 136 Wn.2d 214, 230, 961 P.2d 358 (1998). 
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Washington courts have repeatedly affirmed the mandate from the 

Legislature for insurance companies to “root out fraud.”  Pilgrim v. State 

Farm Fire & Casualty Ins. Co., 89 Wn. App. 712, 719, 950 P.2d 479 

(1997).  Further, Washington also requires that when insurers bring suits 

claiming fraud that they prove their allegations by “clear, cogent, and 

convincing evidence.”  See Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486, 505, 925 P.2d 

194 (1996).  By contrast, in a coverage case, the insured must prove by a 

preponderance of the evidence that coverage exists.  

Allowing insureds to sue Carrier Counsel retained to, e.g., provide 

legal advice and/or take examinations under oath regarding potentially 

fraudulent claims, is counter to the public policy of preventing insurance 

fraud.  Attorneys faced with the potential for personal liability for advice 

provided to clients regarding the investigation of and coverage for 

suspected fraudulent claims, will undoubtedly take an extremely 

conservative approach.  Other attorneys will decline to practice in this area 

of the law.  This will guarantee that more fraudulent claims will be paid.   

D. Allowing insureds to pursue bad faith and CPA claims against 

attorneys encourages insurers to use out-of-state lawyers.   

Insurance companies domiciled outside of Washington often 

litigate coverage and bad faith claims in federal court.  Claimants’ counsel 

may seek to destroy diversity jurisdiction by including adjusters, Carrier 
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Counsel and others if these individuals reside in Washington.  Indeed, 

relying on the Keodalah decision, Washington federal district courts have 

remanded cases that insurers had removed to federal court after the 

insureds added claims against the individual adjusters.  Tidwell v. Gov’t 

Employees Ins. Co., No. C18-318RSL, 2018 WL 2441774 (W.D. Wash. 

May 31, 2018); Mort v. Allstate Indem. Co., No. C18-568RSL, 2018 WL 

4303660 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 10, 2018).  (Appendices C, D); see also, 

Zrazhevskaya v. Allstate Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co., No. 19-2-00201-8 SEA 

(filed in King County Superior Court January 3, 2019) (no diversity 

jurisdiction applies due to addition of two individual adjusters who reside 

in Washington as named defendants) (Appendix E).
 4

 

The Keodalah decision provides incentive to insurance companies 

to outsource outside of Washington whenever possible to preserve 

diversity jurisdiction.  In other words, the decision encourages out-of-state 

insurers to assign Washington claims to adjusters who reside outside of 

Washington to preserve diversity jurisdiction.  The same incentives apply 

to outsourcing of legal services.  Unless this Court rules that attorneys 

may not be sued under the CPA and for bad faith, foreign insurers will 

                                                 
4
 Pursuant to ER 201, WDTL requests that this Court take judicial notice 

of the remanding of Tidwell, 2018 WL 2441774 (Appendix C), and Mort, 2018 
WL 4303660 (Appendix D) and of the filing of and allegations contained in 
Zrazhevskaya, No. 19-2-00201-8 SEA (Appendix E). 
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have incentive to retain out-of-state Carrier Counsel in order to preserve 

diversity jurisdiction. 

Washington insurance law is complex and differs significantly 

from the law in other states.  Nuances in Washington law require 

attorneys, wherever they live, to focus a significant portion of their 

practice on Washington coverage and extra-contractual law in order to 

provide their clients with quality legal advice.   

For example, unlike most states where bad faith requires more than 

negligent conduct, the Washington Supreme Court has found bad faith as a 

matter of law when an insurer merely failed to “anticipate whether and 

how the law might change,” as noted by Washington Supreme Court 

Justice Madsen in Xia v. ProBuilders Specialty Ins. Co., 188 Wn.2d 171, 

196, 400 P.3d 1234 (2017) (dissenting).  Washington Carrier Counsel 

must have the requisite understanding and knowledge to e.g., advise their 

clients when to defend under a reservation of rights and when to 

recommend that their clients seek declaratory relief.  If insurance 

companies outsource their legal work to lawyers residing in foreign 

jurisdictions in order to preserve diversity jurisdiction, the quality of the 

legal advice insurers receive will diminish. 

This result would be bad for Washington.  If insurers pay claims 

that are not covered based upon legal advice from out-of-state lawyers, the 
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cost of paying such claims will be passed on in higher premiums for 

Washington consumers and business.  If insurers deny coverage when they 

should defend and/or indemnify their insureds based upon out-of-state 

legal advice, the consequences would be even worse.  Washington 

residents and businesses will suffer when covered claims are denied and 

Washington courts will be subject to unnecessary litigation.  Washington 

Carrier Counsel with years of experience providing guidance and legal 

services may find that their work has been outsourced to firms in other 

states.  

IV. Conclusion  

This Court should reverse the Keodalah decision because it will 

harm the goals of the Washington insurance statutory and regulatory 

scheme.  Insurance companies that commit bad faith face severe 

consequences under existing Washington law.  Existing insurance law 

provides sufficient protection to Washington insureds.   

Unless this Court reins in the Keodalah decision as it pertains to 

carrier counsel, attorneys will continue to be sued.  Therefore, at a 

minimum, this Court should rule neither Carrier Counsel nor attorneys for 

insureds should be liable for “bad faith,” nor under the CPA in connection 

with an insurance claim 
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If not reversed, the Keodalah decision will harm Washington 

residents and businesses.  Carriers will retain out-of-state counsel and hire 

out-of-state adjusters.  Outsourcing of legal work will harm Washington 

attorneys and law firms and the quality of the legal advice insurers receive 

will diminish.   

Finally, if this Court does not close the Pandora’s box opened by 

the Keodalah decision, at least with regard to claims against Carrier 

Counsel, it will place Carrier Counsel in an impermissible conflict, impair 

the provision of legal services and cause harm to the public policy of 

preventing insurance fraud.      

DATED this 25th day of January, 2019. 

SOHA & LANG, P.S. 

By: /s/Paul Rosner     
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 Geoffrey Bedell, WSBA #28837 

 

and 

 

COZEN O’CONNOR 
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Terri A. Sutton, WSBA # 44842 
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KING COUNTY 
SUPERIOR COURT CLE K 

E-FILED 
CASE NUMBER: 18-2-28028 1 SEA 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE ST A TE OF WASHINGTON 
IN AND FOR KING COUNTY 

8 KAREN and DELIAN SCUDDER, a 
married couple, 

No. 

9 

10 

I 1 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE 
COMPANY, a foreign insurer; and FIONA 
ELIZABETH HUNT and ALFRED 
EDWARD DONOHUE, persons engaged in 
the business of insurance, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

17 COME NOW the above-named Plaintiffs, by and through their attorneys ofrecord, OLIVE 

18 LAW NORTHWEST PLLC, and by way of complaint for damages against Defendants, allege as 

I 9 follows: 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

I. PARTIES 

I.I Plaintiffs: At all times relevant to the allegations herein, Plaintiffs Karen and 

Delian Scudder were wife and husband and residents of Seattle, King County, Washington. 

Plaintiff Karen Scudder was involved in a motor vehicle accident on or about November 6, 2014 

in Seattle, Washington ("the accident"). 

Complaint for Damages - Page 1 of 13 
OLIVE LAW NORTHWEST PLLC 
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1.2 Defendant GEICO General Insurance Company: At all times material 

2 to this lawsuit, Defendant GEICO General Insurance ("GEICO") was a Maryland Insurance 

3 Company with NAIC ID No. 35882 and WAOIC No. 497. Defendant GEICO issued 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Washington Family Automobile Insurance Policy No. 4020-88-84-10 ("the policy") to the 

plaintiffs. The policy was in effect between August 13, 2014 and February 13, 2015. 

1.3 Defendant Fiona E. Hunt: At all times material to this lawsuit, Defendant 

Fiona E. Hunt resided in King County, Washington. At all times material to this lawsuit, 

Defendant Hunt was a person engaged in the business of insurance and acting as a GEICO 

representative. 

1.4 Defendant Alfred E. Donohue: At all times material to this lawsuit, 

Defendant Alfred E. Donohue, resided in King County, Washington. At all times material to this 

lawsuit, Defendant Donohue was a person engaged in the business of insurance and acting as a 

GEICO representative. 

2.1 

of this action. 

2.2 

2.3 

2.4 

2.5 

II. JURISDICTION and VENUE 

The above-named court has jurisdiction over the patiies and the subject matter 

Defendant GEICO was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 

Defendant Hunt was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 

Defendant Donohue was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 

There is no person or entity not a party in this lawsuit that caused or contributed 

22 to the damages alleged herein. 

23 2.6 The King County Superior Court is an appropriate venue for this action pursuant 

24 to RCW 4.12.020. 

25 
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3.1 

3.2 

III. POLICY OF INSURANCE 

Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1.1 through 2.6 as if fully set fo1th herein. 

The policy provided both underinsured motorist ("UIM") coverage and personal 

injury protection ("PIP") coverage. Plaintiffs' PIP coverage included a policy limit of $35,000 

for medical expenses caused by an accident. Plaintiffs' UIM coverage included a policy limit of 

$500,000 for each person and for each occu.rrence. 

3.3 The UJM coverage provided that GEICO would pay "damages an insured is 

legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an uiidel'insured motor vehicle due to 

... bodily injury sustained by that insured and caused by an accident;" 

3.4 Insured is defined by the policy as you and yout relatives. You and your is 

defined as "the policyholder named in the declarations or his or her spouse if a resident of the 

same household." Underinsured motor vehicle is defined by the policy as a "land motor vehicle 

... [w]hich has a liability bond or insurance that applies at the time of the accident but the limits 

of that insurance are less than the amount the insured is legally entitled to recover for damages." 

Accident is defined by the policy as "an occurrence that is unexpected and unintended from the 

standpoint of the insured." 

3.5 At the time of an occurrence that was "unexpected and unintended from the 

19 standpoint of the" plaintiffs, the plaintiffs were policyholders named in the declarations that were 

20 legally entitled to recover damages from the owner or operator of a land motor vehicle which had 

21 liability insurance with limits of insurance that were less than the plaintiffs were legally entitled 

22 to recover for damages. 

IV. FACTS RE: THE ACCIDENT 23 

24 

25 

4.1 Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1.1 through 3.5 as if fully set fotth herein. 
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4.2 At approximately 9:15 a.m. on or about November 6, 2014, Plaintiff Karen 

2 Scudder was involved in a motor vehicle accident caused by the negligence of Christina Johnston 

3 ("Ms. Johnston"). 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

4.3 Immediately following the impact, Plaintiff Karen Scudder began experiencing 

headaches and musculoskeletal pain symptoms. 

4.4. Plaintiff continues to have pain symptoms associated with the accident. 

V. FACTS RE: THE THIRD PARTY, PIP AND UIM CLAIMS 

5.1 Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs I.I through 4.4 as if fully set forth herein. 

5.2 Plaintiffs promptly notified GEICO of the accident following the loss and 

requested that GEICO open a PIP policy for Plaintiff Karen Scudder. On or about February 24, 

2016, GEICO received notice that the Scuddcrs were represented by counsel. Plaintiffs' counsel 

asked that GEICO inform the plaintiffs if GEICO needed any paperwork or assistance to obtain 

PIP benefits. 

5.3 In a letter dated March 2, 20 I 6, Defendant Hunt responded acknowledging receipt 

of the letter of representation. Defendant Hunt did not request any additional information from 

the plaintiffs. 

5.4 With a letter dated May 12, 2016, Plaintiffs asked Defendant Hunt to confirm that 

19 it was still continuing to process and pay for medical treatment on behalf of Plaintiff Karen 

20 Scudder pursuant to the PIP policy. Defendant GEICO sent an itemized list of PIP claims paid 

21 on or about May 16, 2016. The itemized list of PIP payments made showed that GEICO had 

22 paid PIP benefits as recently as April 12, 2016. 

23 

24 

25 

5.5 With a letter dated May 17, 2016, Defendant Hunt claimed that it was her 

understanding that Plaintiff Scudder had ceased receiving treatment at the end of 2015. She 
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indicated that if Plaintiff Scudder planned to continue receiving treatment, Defendant GEICO 

2 would request that she be seen for an insurance medical exam ("IME"). 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

5.6 With a letter dated July 6, 2016, Plaintiffs informed GEICO that "Ms. Scudder 

intends to fully cooperate with any reasonable requests that GEICO may have related to her 

ongoing treatment for injuries she sustained in a motor vehicle accident on November 6, 2014." 

Plaintiffs proposed the following questions to Defendant Hunt: 

"l. Will GEICO discuss Ms. Scudder's injuries, including causation, with her 
healthcare providers, including Dr. Snyder prior to subjecting her to an IME, which 
will take her away from work? If not, why not? 
2. What effort will GEICO make to ensure that its selected examiner(s) are unbiased 
against Ms. Scudder? 
3. Does GEICO object to my client making a video recording of any IME it 
requires? If so, on what basis?" 

5.7 With a letter dated July 15, 2016, Defendant Donohue, writing on behalf of 

Defendant GEICO, informed the plaintiffs that Plaintiff Karen Scudder was required to "submit 

to examination at [GEICO's] expense, by doctors chosen by [GEICO], as [GEICO] reasonably 

require[s]." Emphasis added. Defendant Donohue informed the plaintiffs that its chosen 

physician, Dr. Jennifer James, did not object to video recording of the examination, but that she 

had a policy ofrequiring three weeks' notice, a "professional videographer" and payment of$580 

to have an insurance medical examination video recorded. 

5.8 In fact, Dr. James does not always require examinees she sees for videotaped 

20 IMEs to provide three weeks' notice, use a "professional videographer", and pay $580 for video 

21 recording. GEICO knew or should have known that Dr. James did not have such policies in place 

22 when it demanded that Plaintiff Karen Scudder be seen by Dr. James. 

23 

24 

25 

5.9 Plaintiff Karen Scudder underwent an IME performed by Dr. James on August 

16, 2016. Defendant Hunt requested that Dr. James address five topic areas related to Plaintiff 
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Karen Scudder: (1) objective findings and their cause, (2) whether objective findings supported 

treatment and, if so, what type, (3) whether treatment received to date had been reasonable, 

necessary and related to the accident, ( 4) whether Plaintiff Scudder had a ratable disability, and 

(5) whether Plaintiff Scudder had reached pre-injury status. 

5.10 Dr. James opined that Plaintiff Scudder had following injuries related to the 

accident: type 2 whiplash associated disorder of the cervical spine, lumbar strain, and bilateral 

sacroiliac strain. She noted the following objective findings: bilateral sacroiliac tenderness, 

decreased lumbar range of motion, and positive responses to bilateral sacroiliac injections. 

5.11 Dr. James opined that objective findings warranted additional physical therapy. 

She also opined that all treatment to that point had been reasonable, necessary and related to the 

accident. She also opined that Plaintiff Scudder was not permanently disabled. Finally, she 

opined that Plaintiff Scudder had not yet reached her pre-injury status. 

5.12 On September 30, 2016, Defendant Hunt confirmed that GEICO had paid all 

outstanding medical bills and would continue to do so under the plaintiffs' PIP policy. 

5.13 During the litigation of the underlying claim, Defendants GEICO, Hunt and 

Donohue all had notice of the litigation. Despite having notice of the litigation of the underlying 

claim, Defendants failed to intervene, despite an opportunity to do so. As such, and pursuant to 

the holdings of Lenzi v. Red/and Ins. Co., 140 Wn.2d 267 (2000); Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 

Wn.2d 240 (1998); and Finney v. Farmers Ins. Co., 21 Wn. App. 601 (1978), Defendant GEICO 

is bound by the factual findings and conclusions of the court in the underlying litigation. 

5.14 On February 27, 2018, Plaintiffs provided Defendants GEICO and Hunt with a 

notice that Ms. Johnston's insurer, Liberty Mutual, had offered to pay Ms. Johnston's bodily 

injury policy limit of $100,000. The plaintiffs offered GEICO the opportunity to buy the claim 
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pursuant to Hamilton v. Farmers Ins. Co., 107 Wn.2d 721 (1987). On March 6, 2018, Defendant 

2 Hunt responded, stating that GEICO declined to by the claim against Ms. Johnston and indicating 

3 that she would handle the UIM claim. 
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5.15 With a letter dated March 7, 2018, Plaintiffs requested that GEICO advise them 

whether they intended to seek reimbursement for amounts paid under the plaintiffs" PIP policy. 

It was the plaintiffs position that settlement of the underlying claim and payment of PIP benefits 

did not fully compensate the plaintiffs pursuant to Thiringer v. Am. Motors Ins. Co., 91 Wn.2d 

215 (1978). 

5.16 In a letter dated March 16, 2018, Defendant Hunt requested that the plaintiffs 

provide a "complete settlement demand" before she decided whether she made a decision about 

whether the plaintiffs had been fully compensated. With a letter dated April 6, 2018, Plaintiffs 

provided Defendant Hunt with 866 pages of pleadings, correspondence, and medical records 

related to the UIM claim. With that letter, Plaintiffs requested that Defendant Hunt respond to 

the following questions: 

I. Does GEICO waive any alleged obligations of the Scudders to reimburse 
it for payments made under their PIP policy? If not, please explain the basis 
for such a decision. 
2. Independent of any claim for offsets or setoffs, what does GEICO 
conclude to be the value of the Scudders' UIM claim? 
3. Does GEICO need more than 30 days to complete its investigation of 
this UIM claim? If so, how much additional time is needed and on what 
basis? 
4. What, if any, other information does GEICO request from its insureds 
pursuant to the insurance policy? 

5.17 In a letter dated May 3, 2018, Defendant Hunt confirmed that GEICO would 

23 waive its "PIP subrogation rights." She also indicated that she would forward additional records 

24 to Dr. James. 

25 
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5.18 In a letter dated May 7, 2018, Plaintiffs indicated that they were (I) willing to 

meet with GEICO, provide signed authorizations to obtain additional medical records and 

"otherwise reasonably assist GEICO in its investigation of the UIM claim in this matter." They 

indicated that Plaintiff Scudder had seen four additional health care providers since GEICO last 

requested records. 

5.19 With a letter dated June 6, 2018, Defendant Hunt provided an addendum report 

from Dr. James. In the report, Dr. James concluded that all post-accident treatment Plaintiff 

Scudder had obtained to that date was "reasonable, necessary and related to the motor vehicle 

accident." Dr. James concluded her report by stating that Plaintiff Scudder "may not have 

reached preinjury status regarding her subjective complaints of low back pain." 

5.20 On June 11, 2018, Defendant Donohue sent a "Notice of Examination Under 

Oath" to Plaintiff Karen Scudder. By letter dated June 2 l, 2018, Plaintiff agreed that "because 

Mrs. Scudder's ongoing injuries caused by the accident are material to GEICO's investigation of 

the UIM claim," she would sit for an examination under oath related to those issues. 

5.21 On June 21, 2018, Plaintiff Karen Scudder sat for an examination under oath taken 

by Defendant Donohue. Defendant Donohue's questions exceeded the scope of the examination 

agreed to by Plaintiff Scudder. 

5.22 On June 27, 2018, Defendant Donohue informed Plaintiffs that GEICO would be 

willing to pay some amount to resolve the claim. Defendant Donohue indicated that he believed 

that Mrs. Scudder may have re-injured herself after the accident by working out. Plaintiffs 

proposed that GEICO pay any amount it believed it owed, speak to Mrs. Scudder's treatment 

providers directly, indicate what amount it believed was owed to Mr. Scudder and inform the 

plaintiffs if there was additional information it needed. 
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5 .23 With a letter dated July 11, 2018, Defendant Donohue indicated that the 

mechanism of injury was inconsistent with Mrs. Scudder's injuries. He also indicated that "in 

looking at Ms. Scudder's medical records and considering her deposition testimony, her 

examination under oath testimony, and her husband's deposition testimony, it appears that her 

injuries are related to her exercise program following the accident." He also indicated that 

GEICO was still awaiting a "demand" from the plaintiffs. 

5.24 In a letter dated July 13, 2018, Plaintiffs counsel wrote: "Let me be clear, 

GEICO's insureds, the Scudders, demand that GEICO promptly pay what it owes. It is not the 

Scudders' desire to commence a negotiation or litigate this claim. It is their desire to have their 

insurer promptly investigate and pay what it owes. The Scudders are not obligated to do GEICO's 

investigation for it. Do you disagree?" Emphasis in original. He also wrote: "It is you and 

GEICO that seem to be at odds with the conclusions of the Scudders, Mrs. Scudder's treating 

health care providers and a medical expert GEICO hired to evaluate Mrs. Scudder. As such, l 

proposed that GEICO might benefit from hearing from Mr. Burns and Dr. Leifheit. Given the 

additional burden this would likely place on these two professionals, I suggested that GEICO pay 

for such access. While this seems unnecessary to Scudders, GEICO seems to be of the view that 

the Scudders, their healthcare providers and the physician GEICO hired are not to be believed. 

Given the passage of time, this is disappointing to the Scudders." Emphasis in original. 

5.25 In a letter dated July I 9, 2018, Defendant Donohue stated: "If after reviewing 

21 [additional] records [from Dr. Leifueit], GEICO believes an interview is necessary to address 

22 questions related to her treatment, I will contact you to coordinate a date for his interview at 

23 GEICO's expense." GEICO did not request an opportunity to talk to Dr. Leifueit. 

24 

25 

5.26 In a letter dated August 23, 2018, Plaintiffs sent a notice to the Washington Office 
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of the Insurance Commissioner (the "OIC"), Defendant GEICO and Defendant Donohue 

pursuant to RCW 48.30.0 I 5 (the "IFCA Notice"). The IFCA notice stated the bases of a potential 

cause of action against GEICO pursuant to RCW 48.30.015. The IFCA noticed stated that 

GEICO could "resolve the bases for such a cause of action by, within 20 days receipt of this 

notice, concluding its investigation of this claim and paying all amounts owed under the policy." 

5.27 The OTC and the defendants received the TFCA Notice. More than 20 days have 

passed since they received the IFCA notice. 

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: BREACH OF CONTRACT 

6.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 5 .27 as if fully set forth herein. 

6.2 Defendants had a contractual duty to their insureds under the policy. 

6.3 Defendants also had a duty to the plaintiffs to act reasonably and in good faith in 

the investigation and adjustment of the claim, pursuant to the terms of the insurance contracts 

between the parties and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

6.4 Defendants had a contractual duty to deal with Plaintiffs in good faith and fairly 

as to the terms of the policy and not overreach the plaintiffs. Defendants breached the contract 

of insurance and the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing by failing in their obligations to 

pay benefits under the policy. 

6.5 As a direct and proximate cause of these breaches of contract, the plaintiffs have 

20 sustained economic and consequential noneconomic damages. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

VII. 

7.1 

7.2 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS: VIOLATIONS 
OF THE WASHINGTON CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

The plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 6.5 as if fully set forth herein. 

Defendants' acts and omissions constitute multiple violations of the insurance 

regulatory provisions of the Washington Administrative Code, including, but not limited to: 
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7.2.1 WAC 284-30-330(1 ), by misrepresenting pertinent facts such as the 

claim that GEICO is not obligated to pay any amount under the policy unless the 

Scuddcrs sign a release of all claims; 

7.2.2 WAC 284-30-330(3), by failing to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation of this claim. Despite acknowledging that some 

payment is due, GEICO has made no payment under this policy, nor has it concluded an 

investigation of this claim given that important witnesses like Dr. Leifheit and Mr. Burns 

have not be consulted by the defendants; 

7.2.3 WAC 284-30-330(4), by refusing to pay claims before having conducted a 

reasonable investigation; 

7 .2.4 WAC 284-30-330(7), by compelling the Scudders to initiate litigation by 

refusing to pay any amount, even though it agreed that some amount is owed; 

7.2.5 WAC 284-30-370, by failing to complete its investigation of this UIM 

claim within thirty days after receipt of all records it requested, where it was reasonable 

to have done so; 

7.3 Defendants' violations of the Washington Administrative Code, as alleged 

18 herein, constitute per se violations of RCW 19.86 et. seq., the Consumer Protection Act. 

19 7.4 Defendants' violations of certain enumerated provisions of the Washington 

20 Administrative Code also constitute the basis of additional remedies available under the 

21 Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act, RCW 48.30.015 ("IFCA"); 

22 

23 

24 

25 

7.5 As a direct and proximate cause of these violations, the plaintiffs have been 

injured. 

VIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS: 
NEGLIGENCE/BAD FAITH 
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8.1 Plaintiffs re-allege paragraphs 1.1 through 7.5 as if fully set f01th herein. 

2 8.2 Defendants had a duty to act in good faith in the investigation and adjustment of 

3 the claims. 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

8.3 

8.4 

Defendants failed to act in good faith and deal fairly with the plaintiffs. 

Such failure to act in good faith is a per se violation of the Washington Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86, et. seq. Such failure to act in good faith also sounds in tort. 

8.5 As a direct and proximate cause of this negligence/bad faith, Plaintiffs have 

sustained physicaJ and emotional injuries, which have caused economic and noneconomic 

damages. 

IX. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANT GEICO: 
VIOLATION OF THE INSURANCE FAIR CONDUCT ACT 

9.1 Plaintiffs re-alleges paragraph 1.1 through 8.5 as if fully set forth herein. 

9.2 Pursuant to IFCA, Defendant GEJCO's unreasonable denial of payment of 

14 benefits constitutes a violation ofIFCA. 

15 

16 

17 

]8 
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9.3 Defendant GEICO, by and through its agents, have violated the Washington 

Administrative Code ("WAC"), including, but not limited to, the violations set forth in 

paragraphs 7.2.1 - 7.2.9, above, which constitutes evidence of unreasonableness and provides a 

basis for enhanced damages pursuantto IFCA. 

9.4 As a direct and proximate cause of these violations, the plaintiffs have been 

injured. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Wherefore, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

1. For all direct and consequential damages flowing from Defendants' breach of 

contract, bad faith claims handling, negligence, violation of the CPA and 

Complaint for Damages - Page 12 of 13 
OLIVE LAW NORTIIWEST l'LLC 
1218 Third Avenue, Suite 1000 

Seattle, WA 9810 I 
T: {206) 629-9909 
F: (206) 971-508 I 



A13

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

1 I 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

2. 

3. 

4. 

violations of IFCA as set forth above, including contractual damages and extra 

contractual economic and noneconomic damages; 

For trebling of said actual damages caused by Defendants pursuant to the CPA; 

For trebling of said actual damages caused by Defendants pursuant to IFCA; 

For reasonable attorney fees, litigation and expert costs incurred in prosecuting 

this action against Defendants pursuant to the CPA, IFCA, Olympic S.S. Co., Inc. 

v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 3 7 (1991 ), and all other equitable remedies that 

may be available; 

5. For injunctive relief, pursuant to the CPA to enjoin further violations by 

Defendants; 

6. For prejudgment interest on all damages to the extent permitted by applicable law; 

7. For all other relief the Court deems fair,just and equitable. 

DATED this 7th day ofNovember 2018. 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
IN AND FOR KING COUNTY 

 
  

NICHOLAS D. SHARP, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
                 v. 
 
STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE 
INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign 
insurer, HEATHER M. JENSEN, a person 
engaged in the business of insurance and 
LAURA HAWES YOUNG, a person 
engaged in the business of insurance, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 No.  

 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

 

COMES NOW the above-named Plaintiff, by and through his attorney of record, OLIVE 

LAW NORTHWEST PLLC, and by way of complaint for damages against Defendants, alleges as 

follows: 

I. PARTIES 

 1.1 At all times relevant to the allegations herein, Plaintiff Nicholas Sharp was a 

resident of Seattle, King County, Washington.  Plaintiff was involved in a motor vehicle accident 

on or about December 23, 2013 in Lynnwood, Washington, which was caused by Imaobong 

Akpaidem (“the accident”). 
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1.2 At all times material to this lawsuit, Defendant State Farm Mutual Automobile 

Insurance Company  (“State Farm”) was an Illinois Insurance Company with NAIC ID No. 

25178 and WAOIC No. 1257.  Defendant State Farm issued State Farm Car Policy No. 130 122-

E11-47B (“the policy”) to the plaintiff in Seattle, Washington.  The policy was in effect at the 

time of the accident.  The plaintiff made a claim to State Farm following the accident, to which 

State Farm assigned claim number 47-3P28-119 (“the claim”). 

1.3 The policy was sold to the plaintiff by Thury Foster, an agent doing business in 

Seattle, King County, Washington, registered under WAOIC No. 243113 and authorized by 

Defendant State Farm to sell the policy to the plaintiff.   

1.4 Defendant Laura Hawes Young, a Washington attorney residing in Seattle, King 

County, Washington, with Washington State Bar Association license number 39346, performed 

work related to the claim on behalf of Defendant State Farm.  Defendant Young was a person 

engaged in the business of insurance and acting as a representative of Defendant State Farm with 

regard to her work on the claim. 

1.5 Defendant Heather M. Jensen, a Washington attorney residing in Seattle, King 

County, Washington, with Washington State Bar Association license number 29635, performed 

work related to the claim on behalf of Defendant State Farm.  Defendant Jensen was person 

engaged in the business of insurance and acting as a representative of Defendant State Farm with 

regard to her work on the claim. 

II.  JURISDICTION and VENUE 

 2.1 The above-named court has jurisdiction over the parties and the subject matter 

of this action.  

 2.2 Defendant State Farm was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 
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 2.3 Defendant Young was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 

 2.4 Defendant Jensen was served with the summons and complaint in this matter. 

2.5 There is no person or entity not a party in this lawsuit that caused or contributed 

to the damages alleged herein. 

 2.6 The King County Superior Court is an appropriate venue for this action pursuant 

to RCW 4.12.025(3) because a tort committed by Defendant State Farm occurred in King County, 

Washington and work was performed for Defendant State Farm by Defendants Young and Jensen 

in King County. 

III. POLICY OF INSURANCE: PIP and UIM BENEFITS 

 3.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 2.6 as if fully set forth herein.  

 3.2 The policy provided both underinsured motorist (“UIM”) coverage and personal 

injury protection (“PIP”) coverage.   

 3.3 The insuring agreement under the UIM coverage provided that State Farm “will 

pay compensatory damages for bodily injury an insured is legally entitled to recover from the 

owner or driver of an underinsured motor vehicle.”  Emphasis for defined terms in original.  

3.4 “Bodily injury” is defined in the policy to include “bodily injury to a person and 

sickness, disease or death that results from it.”  Emphasis for defined terms in original.  “Person” 

is defined in the policy as “a human being”.   

3.5 “Insured” is defined in the policy as “you”.  Emphasis for defined term in original.  

“You” is defined as “the named insured … shown on the Declarations Page.”  Plaintiff is the 

named insured shown on the declarations page. 

3.6 “Underinsured motor vehicle” is defined in the policy as “a land motor vehicle … 

the ownership, maintenance or use of which is … insured … for bodily injury liability at the time 
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of the accident; but … the limits are less than the compensatory damages which the insured is 

legally entitled to recover”.  Emphasis for defined terms in original. 

 3.7 Insured is defined by the policy as you and your relatives.  You and your is 

defined as “the policyholder named in the declarations ...”   

 3.8 Under the UIM insuring agreement, the bodily injury must be “sustained by an 

insured” and “caused by an accident that involves the operation, maintenance, or use of an 

underinsured motor vehicle as a motor vehicle.” 

 3.9 Under the PIP coverage insuring agreement, the policy stated that State Farm “will 

provide personal injury protection benefits to an insured for bodily injury sustained by that 

insured and caused by an automobile accident.”  Emphasis for defined terms in original. 

 3.10 Personal injury protection benefits are defined in the policy as “accident related 

… Medical and Hospital Benefits, which are payments for reasonable medical expenses incurred 

within three years of the date of the accident.”  Emphasis for defined terms in original.   

 3.11 Reasonable medical expenses means “expenses …  

1. that are the lowest one of the following charges: 

a. The usual and customary fees charged by a majority of healthcare 

providers who provide similar medical services in the geographical 

area in which the charges were incurred;  

b.  The fee specified in any fee schedule: 

1. applicable to the medical payments coverage, no fault 

coverage, or personal injury protection coverage included 

in liability policies issued in the state where medical 

services are provided; and 
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2. as prescribed or authorized by the law of the state where 

medical services are provided; 

c. The fees agreed to by both the insured’s healthcare provider and 

us; or 

d. The fees agreed upon between the insured’s healthcare provider 

and a third party when we have a contract with such third party. 

2. incurred for necessary: 

a. medical, surgical, X-ray, dental, ambulance, hospital, and 

professional nursing services…”. Emphasis for defined terms in 

original. 

IV. FACTS RE: THE ACCIDENT  

 4.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 3.11 as if fully set forth herein.  

 4.2 The accident occurred at approximately 1:56 p.m. on December 23, 2013.  At that 

time and place, Imaobong Akpaidem, struck a vehicle driven by Paige Williams from behind.  

The force of the impact pushed Ms. Williams’ vehicle into the vehicle being driven by the 

plaintiff.   

 4.3 The plaintiff was legally entitled to recover compensatory damages for bodily 

injury from Imaobong Akpaidem. 

4.4 The plaintiff had recently undergone neck surgery at the time of the accident.  He 

began experiencing new and different neck pain symptoms immediately following the accident.  

Immediately following the accident, Plaintiff also began experiencing new symptoms in his 

lower back, tingling symptoms in his right arm and pain in his right leg and knee.  

4.4 Defendant State Farm determined that the accident was caused solely by Ms. 
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Akpaidem.   

4.5 At the time of the accident, Ms. Akpaidem was driving a land motor vehicle, the 

use of which was insured for bodily injury liability by 21st Century Insurance.  Ms. Akpaidem 

had a bodily injury liability limit of $100,000.00. 

 4.6. Ms. Akpaidem and her insurer, 21st Century Insurance, offered to settle the claim 

with the plaintiff in exchange for payment of Ms. Akpaidem’s $100,000 bodily injury policy 

limit. 

 4.7 The plaintiff offered Defendant State Farm the opportunity to buy the claim 

pursuant to Hamilton v. Farmers Ins. Co., 107 Wn.2d 721 (1987).  Defendant State Farm declined 

the offer to buy the claim against Ms. Akpaidem. 

V. FACTS RE: THE THIRD PARTY, PIP AND UIM CLAIMS 

5.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 4.7 as if fully set forth herein.  

5.2 Plaintiff promptly notified State Farm of the accident.   

5.3 State Farm opened a PIP claim under the policy. 

5.4 With a letter dated January 23, 2014, Plaintiff, through his attorney, Christopher 

J. Mainard, provided Defendant State Farm with an executed Application for PIP benefits and 

Authorization for Release of Information. 

5.5 Plaintiff has cooperated with Defendant State Farm’s investigation of his claims 

arising out of the accident.   

5.6 State Farm does not claim that the plaintiff failed to cooperate with the 

investigation of claims arising out of the accident. 

5.7 After having provided State Farm with unfettered access to his private medical 

records, State Farm claimed that it had not been provided with all of the plaintiff’s medical 
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records.  State Farm representatives investigating the UIM coverage had access to the same 

information as State Farm representatives investigating the PIP coverage. 

5.8 With a letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote:  

“Pursuant to your letter dated October 2, 2017 enclosed please find all of Mr. 
Sharp’s medical records and bills we have received to date arising from the 
automobile collision on the above date of injury.” 
 
Mr. Mainard’s statement that he provided Mr. Sharp’s medical records to 

Defendant State Farm on December 12, 2017 was true when it was made.  Defendant State 

Farm knew that it was true at that time.   

5.9 Also with the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“Please be advised all medical records from the emergency room on the date of 
injury can be found in the records from Northwest Hospital & Medical Center that 
are Bate stamped 1-111.” 
 
Mr. Mainard’s statement that he provided emergency room records from Northwest 

Hospital & Medical Center from the date of the injury was true when it was made.  

Defendant State Farm knew that it was true at that time. 

5.10 Also in the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“The records from the emergency room begin at page 95.” 
 
Mr. Mainard’s statement that medical records from the emergency [room] began at 

page 95 was true when it was made.  Defendant State Farm knew that this statement was 

true at that time. 

5.11 Also in the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 

“Also enclosed are all medical records from the date of loss to the present.” 
 
Mr. Mainard’s statement that enclosed [were] all of the medical records from the 

date of loss to the present was true.  Defendant State Farm knew that this statement was 
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true at that time.   

5.12 Also in the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“Finally, I have once again enclosed Mr. Sharp’s medical records that precede the 
date of loss. Those records can be found in the Dr. Lazar folder under the filename 
N.SHARP MED RECS-DR.DANIEL LAZAR 2000-12/23/13.” 
 

Mr. Mainard’s statement that he was providing medical records that preceded the 

date of loss again was true.  Defendant State Farm knew that this statement was true at that 

time.  Defendant State Farm did not use the medical authorization the plaintiff had signed 

to obtain additional records. 

5.13 Also in the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“Should you need any additional medical records or reports please do not hesitate 
to contact me.” 
 
State Farm understood that Mr. Mainard was offering to assist State Farm in 

gathering additional records.  State Farm did not contact Mr. Mainard to request assistance 

at gathering additional medical records at that time. 

5.14 Also in the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“Based on the records, billings and insurance itemizations Mr. Sharp has 
incurred treatment and diagnostic bills in the approximate amount of 
$147,146 to date. Given the fact that the defendant only had $100,000 of 
liability coverage which has already been tendered, and State Farm has 
declined to buy out the claim, this is an excess situation and should be 
resolved by tender of the underlying UIM policy limits without either of us 
running up any additional fees and costs.” 
 
Within 30 days of its receipt of Mr. Mainard’s December 12, 2017 letter, State Farm 

knew that Mr. Mainard was claiming that the plaintiff was not fully compensated by payment of 

Ms. Akpaidem’s $100,000 policy limit and State Farm’s payment of $10,000 in PIP benefits.   

5.15 Within 30 days of receiving Mr. Mainard’s December 12, 2017 letter, State Farm 
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knew that the plaintiff was legally entitled to recover from Ms. Akpaidem more damages than 

he had recovered from her and from his PIP coverage.  State Farm did not send any payment to 

the plaintiff under his UIM policy at this time.   

5.16 The first time Defendant State Farm sent any money as payment under his UIM 

policy was on August 29, 2018.  August 29, 2018 was 260 days after Mr. Mainard’s December 

12, 2017 letter.  State Farm informed the plaintiff that this was an “initial offer.”  No additional 

payment under the UIM policy has been made.  

5.17 In the letter dated December 12, 2017, Mr. Mainard wrote: 
 
“As you are aware, Mr. Sharp is a middle-aged man who has been seriously affected 
by this collision.” 
 
State Farm knew that this statement was true in December of 2017. 
 
5.18 Mr. Mainard’s December 12, 2017 letter also stated about the plaintiff:  

“His injuries were so severe that multiple surgical procedures were required. He 
was hospitalized for extended periods of time and continues to suffer from ongoing 
back and knee pain since this collision. He has sought various treatment modalities 
to obtain relief of his symptoms which have taken up a large amount of his time 
and which have been very expensive. There is no suggestion in any of the treatment 
records that Mr. Sharp has been fabricating or exaggerating his symptoms and his 
extensive care and treatment is consistent with the type of pain and problem that he 
has been suffering from since this collision.” 
 
State Farm knew that these statements were true in December of 2017.  State Farm 

made no payments under the policy at this time. 

5.19 In a letter dated August 3, 2018, Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a notice pursuant 

to RCW 48.30.015 (the “IFCA Notice”) to the Washington Insurance Commissioner, Defendant 

State Farm and Ryan Williams, a State Farm representative.  The IFCA Notice stated the bases 

of a potential cause of action against State Farm pursuant to RCW 48.30.015.  The IFCA Notice 

informed State Farm that it could resolve the bases for a cause of action against State Farm by, 
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within 20 days receipt of the notice, concluding its investigation of this claim and paying all 

amounts owed under the policy. 

5.20 With a letter dated August 20, 2018, State Farm responded in a letter by Defendant 

Young, stating that State Farm would, for the first time, request a medical records review by a 

physician it chose.  At the time that she performed her work, Defendant Young was a person 

engaged in the business of insurance and acting as a representative of Defendant State Farm. 

5.21 With a letter dated August 29, 2018, State Farm sent a check to the plaintiff in 

the amount of $2,500. 

5.22 After State Farm received the IFCA notice, it hired a physician named Dr. 

Benjamin Chen to review the plaintiff’s medical records.  In a letter written to Defendant Heather 

M. Jensen, Dr. Chen concluded that the injuries caused by the accident included: (1) herniated 

disc with right leg radiculopathy related to the accident on a more probable than not basis, (2) 

right knee strain causally related to the accident on a more probable than not basis, (3) whiplash 

and low back pain causally related to the accident on a more probable than not basis.  Dr. Chen 

concluded that treatment for whiplash, lumbar strain, right knee pain, and lumbar radiculopathy 

were reasonable, appropriate and related to the accident.  Dr. Chen’s opinion was the first time 

that State Farm sought the opinion of an outside expert with regard to the cause the plaintiff’s 

symptoms. 

5.23 Defendants Young and Jensen reviewed this report on behalf of Defendant State 

Farm.  At the time that Defendants Young and Jensen did their work in this matter, they were 

persons engaged in the business of insurance and acting as representatives of Defendant State 

Farm.   

VI. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: BREACH OF CONTRACT 
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6.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 5.23 as if fully set forth herein. 

6.2 Defendants and each of them had a contractual duty to their insured under the 

policy. 

6.3  Defendants and each of them also had a duty to the plaintiff to act reasonably and 

in good faith in the investigation and adjustment of the claims, pursuant to the terms of the 

insurance contracts between the parties and the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. 

6.4  Defendants and each of them had a contractual duty to deal with Plaintiff in good 

faith and fairly as to the terms of the policy and not overreach the plaintiff.  Defendants breached 

the contract of insurance and the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing by failing in their 

obligations to do a prompt investigation of the claim and pay benefits under the policy.   

6.5 As a direct and proximate cause of these breaches of contract, the plaintiff has 

sustained economic and consequential noneconomic damages. 

VII. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS: 
VIOLATIONS OF THE WASHINGTON CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

 
7.1 The plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 6.5 as if fully set forth herein. 

7.2 Defendants’ acts and omissions constitute multiple violations of the insurance 

regulatory provisions of the Washington Administrative Code, including, but not limited to:  

7.2.1  WAC 284-30-330(1), by misrepresenting pertinent facts such as the claim 

that the plaintiff had not provided access to certain medical records; 

7.2.2  WAC 284-30-330(2), by failing to provide a certified copy of the policy 

and identify the provision(s) of the policy that justified its refusal to pay any benefits 

until after State Farm received the IFCA Notice. 

7.2.3 WAC 284-30-330(3), by failing to adopt and implement reasonable 

standards for the prompt investigation of this claim. Despite acknowledging that some 
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payment was due, State Farm made no payment under this policy prior to receiving the 

IFCA Notice; 

7.2.4  WAC 284-30-330(4), by refusing to pay claims before having conducted 

a reasonable investigation; 

7.2.5  WAC 284-30-330(7), by compelling the plaintiff to initiate litigation by 

refusing to pay the amount it determined was appropriate prior to the commencement of 

this lawsuit;  

7.2.6  WAC 284-30-370, by failing to complete its investigation of this UIM 

claim within thirty days after having unfettered access to all information it reasonably 

required prior to receiving the IFCA notice; 

7.3 Defendants’ violations of the Washington Administrative Code, as alleged herein, 

constitute per se violations of RCW 19.86 et. seq., the Consumer Protection Act.  

7.4 Plaintiff does NOT allege that violations of the above-enumerated WAC 

provisions create a cause of action under the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act, RCW 

48.30.015 (“IFCA”).   

7.5 However, Defendants’ violations of certain enumerated provisions of the 

Washington Administrative Code constitute the basis of additional remedies available under 

IFCA. 

7.6 As a direct and proximate cause of these violations, the plaintiff  has been injured. 

VIII. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANTS: 
NEGLIGENCE/BAD FAITH 

8.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraphs 1.1 through 7.6 as if fully set forth herein. 

8.2 Defendants had a duty to act in good faith in the investigation and adjustment of 

the claims.   
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8.3 Defendants failed to act in good faith and deal fairly with the plaintiff. 

8.4  Such failure to act in good faith is a per se violation of the Washington Consumer 

Protection Act, RCW 19.86, et. seq.  Such failure to act in good faith also sounds in tort. 

8.5 As a direct and proximate cause of this negligence/bad faith, Plaintiff has 

sustained physical and emotional injuries, which have caused economic and noneconomic 

damages. 

IX. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST DEFENDANT STATE FARM: 
VIOLATION OF THE INSURANCE FAIR CONDUCT ACT 

 
9.1 Plaintiff re-alleges paragraph 1.1 through 8.5 as if fully set forth herein. 

9.2 Pursuant to IFCA, Defendant State Farm’s unreasonable denial of payment of 

benefits constitutes a violation of IFCA. 

9.3 Defendant State Farm, by and through its agents, have violated the Washington 

Administrative Code (“WAC”), including, but not limited to, the violations set forth in 

paragraphs 7.2.1 – 7.2.6, above, which constitutes evidence of unreasonableness and provides 

a basis for enhanced damages pursuant to IFCA. 

9.4 As a direct and proximate cause of these violations, the plaintiff has been 

injured. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Wherefore, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

1. For all direct and consequential damages flowing from Defendants’ breach of 

contract, bad faith claims handling, negligence, violation of the CPA and 

violations of IFCA as set forth above, including contractual damages and extra 

contractual economic and noneconomic damages; 

2. For trebling of said actual damages caused by Defendants pursuant to the CPA; 
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3. For trebling of said actual damages caused by Defendants pursuant to IFCA; 

4. For reasonable attorney fees, litigation and expert costs incurred in prosecuting 

this action against Defendants pursuant to the CPA, IFCA, Olympic S.S. Co., Inc. 

v. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37 (1991), and all other equitable remedies that 

may be available; 

5. For injunctive relief, pursuant to the CPA to enjoin further violations by 

Defendants; 

6. For prejudgment interest on all damages to the extent permitted by applicable law; 

7. For all other relief the Court deems fair, just and equitable. 

 

Dated this 13th day of November, 2018. 

 

 

 

OLIVE LAW NORTHWEST PLLC 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Kyle C. Olive, WSBA #35552 
1218 Third Avenue, Suite 1000 
Seattle, WA 98101 
P: (206) 629-9909 
F: (206) 971-5081 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

Case 2:18-cv-01863-RAJ   Document 1-1   Filed 12/26/18   Page 15 of 15

B14



Tidwell v. Government Employees Insurance Company, Slip Copy (2018) 

2018 WL 2441774 

 

 © 2019 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

 

 
 

2018 WL 2441774 
Only the Westlaw citation is currently 

available. 
United States District Court, W.D. 

Washington, 
at Seattle. 

Elizabeth TIDWELL, Plaintiff, 
v. 

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES INSURANCE 
COMPANY, Defendant. 

Case No. C18-318RSL 
| 

Signed 05/31/2018 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

Jonathan Samuel Barash, Timothy Rolland Tesh, 

Ressler & Tesh, Seattle, WA, for Plaintiff. 

Michelle Elizabeth Kierce, Natasha A. 

Khachatourians, Shawna M. Lydon, Betts 

Patterson & Mines, Seattle, WA, for Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

ORDER GRANTING MOTION FOR LEAVE TO 

AMEND AND FOR REMAND TO STATE 

COURT 

Robert S. Lasnik, United States District Judge 

*1 This matter comes before the Court on 

“Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to File an Amended 

Complaint and for Remand to State Court.” Dkt. # 

14. Defendant failed to respond to plaintiff’s 

motion, which the Court may treat as an admission 

of the motion’s merit. See LCR 7(b)(2). 

  

In this uninsured motorist claim, plaintiff seeks to 

amend her complaint and add William Andrews, 

the claims adjuster in her case, as a defendant. Her 

request follows the recent decision by the 

Washington Court of Appeals in Keodalah v. 

Allstate Ins. Co., 413 P.3d 1059, 1065 (Wash. Ct. 

App. 2018), holding that individual insurance 

adjusters can be liable for violating Washington’s 

Consumer Protection Act, RCW 48.01.030. 

  

Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 

provides that courts “should freely give leave [to 

amend pleadings] when justice so requires.” Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2). Based on “the strong policy 

permitting amendment,” Bowles v. Reade, 198 

F.3d 752, 757 (9th Cir. 1999), courts deny leave to 

amend “only if there is strong evidence of undue 

delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of 

the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by 

amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice 

to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of the 

amendment, or futility of amendment,” Sonoma 

Cty. Ass’n of Retired Emps. v. Sonoma County, 

708 F.3d 1109, 1117 (9th Cir. 2013) (marks and 

citation omitted). As for joinder, Rule 20 permits 

joinder of parties defending claims that arise out of 

the same transaction or occurrence and present 

common questions of law or fact. Fed. R. Civ. P. 

20(a). 

  

Mr. Andrews is a citizen of Washington State, and 

his joinder as a defendant would destroy complete 

diversity of citizenship and extinguish the Court’s 

subject matter jurisdiction over this action. See 

Owen Equip. & Erection Co. v. Kroger, 437 U.S. 

365, 373 (1978). It is within the Court’s discretion 

whether to join Mr. Andrews as a defendant and 

remand the matter to state court. See 28 U.S.C. § 

1447(e) (“If after removal the plaintiff seeks to join 

additional defendants whose joinder would destroy 

subject matter jurisdiction, the court may deny 

joinder, or permit joinder and remand the action to 

the State court.”). 

  

Plaintiff’s claims against Mr. Andrews arise out of 

the same transaction or occurrence and present 

common questions of law and fact. See Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 20(a). Plaintiff’s request comes relatively 

early in this case and was filed before the deadlines 

for joining parties and amending pleadings. See 

Dkt. # 11. Defendant does not oppose the motion 

and there is no other indication that joinder and 

remand would prejudice defendant. See Ballard 

Condominiums Owners Ass’n v. Gen. Sec. Indem. 

Co. of Arizona, No. C09-484RSL, 2011 WL 

13193265, at *1 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 9, 2011). There 

has been no undue delay and nothing suggests the 

request is a tactic to defeat jurisdiction. See id. The 

Court finds that leave to amend and join Mr. 

Andrews as a defendant is appropriate, that the 
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Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction following 

Mr. Andrews’s joinder, and that this action should 

be remanded to state court. 

  

*2 For the foregoing reasons, plaintiff’s motion, 

Dkt. # 14, is GRANTED. The Court adopts as the 

operative pleading in this action plaintiff’s 

proposed amended complaint. Dkt. # 15-3. The 

Clerk of Court is ORDERED to REMAND this 

matter to the Superior Court of the State of 

Washington for King County. 

  

All Citations 
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ORDER DENYING MOTION TO DISMISS 

DEFENDANT RICHARDSON AND GRANTING 

MOTION TO REMAND 

Robert S. Lasnik, United States District Judge 

*1 This matter comes before the Court on 

plaintiff’s “Motion to Remand,” Dkt. # 5, and 

defendant Allstate Indemnity Company’s “Motion 

to Dismiss Defendant Steven Richardson,” Dkt. # 

6. The Court has reviewed the motions, the parties’ 

memoranda, the associated filings, and the 

remainder of the record. For the following reasons, 

Allstate’s motion is DENIED, and plaintiff’s 

motion to remand is GRANTED. 

  

 

 

I. BACKGROUND 

In this insurance dispute, plaintiff Peter Mort is 

suing Allstate and its insurance adjuster, defendant 

Steven Richardson, over the value of a claim for 

fire damage to Mort’s Hoquiam, WA property. See 

Dkt. # 1-1. Mort filed the case’s original complaint 

on March 15, 2018, in King County Superior 

Court. Dkt. # 1-1. In it, he sued Allstate (but not 

Richardson) for breach of contract, bad faith, and 

violating Washington’s Consumer Protection Act 

(“CPA”), RCW 19.86.020. Dkt. # 1-1. On March 

26, 2018, the Washington Court of Appeals in 

Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. Co., 3 Wn. App. 2d 31 

(2018), held that insurance adjusters can be 

individually liable for bad faith and CPA claims, 

id. at 40–43. On April 6, 2018, Mort filed an 

amended complaint that added Richardson as an 

individual defendant. Dkt. # 1-2. On April 18, 

2018, Allstate removed the case to this Court, 

invoking diversity jurisdiction as the basis for 

removal. Dkt. # 1; see 28 U.S.C. § 1332. 

  

Mort then filed a motion for remand, asserting that 

the case lacks complete diversity, because he and 

Richardson are both residents of Washington State. 

Dkt. # 5. (Allstate is incorporated and has its 

principal place of business in Illinois. Dkt. # 1 ¶ 

11.) Allstate filed a motion to dismiss Richardson 

as a defendant, arguing that he is a dispensable 

party under Rules 19 and 21 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure. Dkt. # 6. 

  

 

 

II. DISCUSSION 

The dispositive question for both motions is 

whether Steven Richardson is a proper defendant. 

If he is, then the parties lack complete diversity and 

the case should be remanded to state court. If 

Richardson is dismissed, then the Court’s diversity 

jurisdiction is properly invoked and the case may 

remain in federal court. 

  

Federal jurisdiction rests on the foundational 

principal that “[f]ederal courts are courts of limited 

jurisdiction.” Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. 
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of Am., 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994). A defendant 

may remove any case brought in state court over 

which the federal district courts have original 

jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a), but there is a 

presumption against removal and “federal 

jurisdiction must be rejected if there is any doubt as 

to the right of removal in the first instance,” Gaus 

v. Miles, Inc., 980 F.2d 564, 566 (9th Cir. 1992). In 

addition, the defendant has the burden of 

establishing that removal is proper. Id. One proper 

basis for removing a case from state court is the 

federal courts’ original diversity jurisdiction. See 

28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(1) (extending jurisdiction in 

cases with diverse parties and an amount in 

controversy exceeding $75,000). Diversity 

jurisdiction requires complete diversity—that is, no 

plaintiff may be a citizen of the same state as any 

defendant. Newman–Green, Inc. v. 

Alfonzo–Larrain, 490 U.S. 826, 829 (1989); 

Strawbridge v. Curtiss, 7 U.S. (3 Cranch) 267, 267 

(1806). 

  

*2 Somewhat related is the courts’ authority, 

codified in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, to 

determine a case’s proper parties. In particular, 

Rule 19 describes parties that must be joined in an 

action. Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a). Rule 21, on the other 

hand, empowers the Court to dismiss parties 

improperly joined in a case. Fed. R. Civ. P. 21. 

Some courts have used Rule 21 to dismiss 

nondiverse parties and preserve jurisdiction over 

cases originally filed in federal court. See 7 Charles 

Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller et al., Fed. Prac. & 

Proc. Civ. § 1685 (3d ed. 2002 & Sep. 2018 

update). It is rare, however, for courts to use Rule 

21 to dismiss properly joined parties “solely to 

permit a defendant to acquire federal jurisdiction 

and remove the proceeding from the state forum in 

which it was originally brought.” Oliva v. Chrysler 

Corp., 978 F. Supp. 685, 688 (S.D. Tex. 1997); see 

Ferry v. Bekum Am. Corp., 185 F. Supp. 2d 1285, 

1290 (M.D. Fla. 2002); Garbie v. Chrysler Corp., 8 

F. Supp. 2d 814, 817–18 (N.D. Ill. 1998). 

  

The Court concludes that Richardson should not be 

dismissed, because Mort properly added him as a 

defendant in state court based on a viable state-law 

claim—that is, the individual-capacity claim that 

the Washington Court of Appeals articulated in 

Keodalah, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 40–43. Significantly, 

the Keodalah decision fell within the three-week 

period between when Mort filed his first complaint 

and when he amended it to add Richardson as an 

individual. Indeed, in the months since Keodalah, 

the Court has allowed plaintiffs to add claims 

against individual insurance adjusters—including 

when doing so destroys complete diversity for 

jurisdictional purposes. See Tidwell v. Gov’t 

Employees Ins. Co., No. C18-318RSL, 2018 WL 

2441774, at *2 (W.D. Wash. May 31, 2018). Mort 

brought a viable claim against an appropriate 

defendant. The Court sees no reason for using Rule 

21 to undermine that choice so Allstate can litigate 

this case in a forum plaintiff rejects and without 

one of his chosen defendants. See Garbie, 8 F. 

Supp. 2d at 818 (“[A]s masters of their complaint, 

plaintiffs have the right to choose who will be the 

named parties in the suit.”). 

  

Allstate cites a number of cases that dismissed 

parties in order to retain federal jurisdiction, but 

none of them involved a nondiverse defendant 

properly joined in state court. Many involved 

nondiverse defendants added after the case was 

properly removed. See Nash v. Hall, 436 F. Supp. 

633, 634 (W.D. Okla. 1977); Calderon v. Lowe’s 

Home Ctrs., LLC, No. C15-1140ODW, 2015 WL 

3889289, at *1 (C.D. Cal. June 24, 2015); 

Gieringer v. The Cincinnati Ins. Companies, No. 

C08-267TAV, 2008 WL 4186931, at *1 (E.D. 

Tenn. Sept. 5, 2008). In the only case cited where a 

nondiverse defendant existed before removal, the 

court made a finding of fraudulent joinder, Linnin 

v. Michielsens, 372 F. Supp. 2d 811, 817 (E.D. Va. 

2005), which Allstate has not asserted or shown 

here. 

  

Allstate also complains that when Mort added 

Richardson, the amended complaint did not 

meaningfully add new facts. Unless Allstate can 

successfully show that the amended complaint falls 

short of the relevant pleading standards or that it 

fails to state a claim against Richardson upon 

which relief can be granted, the amended 

complaint’s marginal quantity of alleged facts is 

not a reason to dismiss Richardson from the case. 

  

Allstate’s argument that Mort added Richardson 

solely to defeat potential removal is also 

unavailing. Allstate has not shown that would be 

grounds for dismissing him. Even if it were, there 

is another perfectly plausible reason for Mort to 

have amended the complaint to add Richardson: 

the Keodalah decision newly articulated an 

individual-capacity claim against insurance 

adjusters just after Mort filed his first complaint. 

  

*3 The Court also rejects Allstate’s argument that 
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Richardson should be dismissed because Mort can 

fully recover from Allstate under principles of 

respondeat superior. That Mort could recover fully 

from Allstate—based on respondeat superior or 

joint and several liability—is not a valid reason to 

dismiss Richardson. 

  

Given the Court’s conclusion that Richardson 

should not be dismissed as a defendant, nothing has 

changed the parties’ lack of complete diversity of 

citizenship. The Court accordingly concludes that it 

lacks jurisdiction to resolve the case and that 

remand is proper.1 See Gaus, 980 F.2d at 566. 

  

1
 

 

In his remand motion, Mort seeks fees incurred 

responding to Allstate’s removal. See 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1447(c). Allstate’s removal was within reason 

and fees are not appropriate. See Martin v. 

Franklin Capital Corp., 546 U.S. 132, 141 

(2005). 

 

 

 

 

III. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Allstate’s motion, Dkt. # 

6, is DENIED, and plaintiff’s motion for remand, 

Dkt. # 4, is GRANTED. The Clerk of Court is 

ORDERED to REMAND this matter to the 

Superior Court of the State of Washington for King 

County. 

  

All Citations 

Slip Copy, 2018 WL 4303660 
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF KING 

Zrazhevskaya, Natalya, individually, 

Plaintiff, 
v. 

Allstate Property and Casualty Insurance 

Company, a corporation, and Allstate 
Insurance Company, a corporation, Tracey 

Smith and John Doe Smith, wife and husband, 

and Rachelle Mead and John Doe Mead, wife 
and husband, 

Defendants. 

Case No. -----------
COMPLAINT FOR UIM DAMAGES, VIOLATION 
OF THE INSURANCE FAIR CONDUCT ACT, 

BREACH OF GOOD FAITH DUTY, BREACH OF 
FIDUCIARY DUTY, BREACH OF CONSUMER 
PROTECTION ACT AND BREACH OF 

CONTRACT 

Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya claims against defendants (i) Allstate Property and 

Casualty Insurance Company, a corporation, and Allstate Insurance Company, a corporation, (ii) 

Tracey Smith and John Doe Smith, wife and husband, and (iii) Rachelle Mead and John Doe 

Mead, wife and husband, alleging as follows: 

I. PARTIES 

1.1 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya at all times relevant herein was a resident of King 

County, Washington. 
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1.2 Upon information and belief, defendant Allstate Property and Casualty 

Company, a foreign insurer, is a foreign corporation licensed to do business in the State of 

Washington and does business in King County, Washington. 

1.3 Upon information and belief, defendant Allstate Insurance Company, a foreign 

insurer, is a foreign corporation licensed to do business in the State of Washington and does 

business in King County, Washington. 

1.4 Upon information and belief, defendants Tracey Smith and John Doe Smith 

8 (collectively "defendant Smith"), wife and husband, and the marital community comprised 

9 thereof, have at all relevant times resided in King County, Washington. 
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1.5 Upon information and belief, defendants Rachelle Mead and John Doe Mead 

(collectively "defendant Mead"), wife and husband, and the marital community comprised 

thereof, have at all relevant times resided in King County, Washington. 

1.6 Defendant Allstate Property and Casualty Insurance Company and/or defendant 

Allstate Insurance Company (hereunder "defendant Allstate" and/or "Allstate"), accepted 

premiums and issued UIM coverage (Allstate Policy 907945198 11/24, hereunder "Policy") to 

policyholders Yelena Zrazhevskaya and/or Sergey Zrazhevski, parents of Plaintiff Natalya 

Zrazhevskaya, in the amount of $100,000.00 per person. Allstate's Policy coverage was 

available to Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya at all times material herein because she was listed as 

a driver covered by this policy and a resident relative insured under the policy at all such times. 

Further, at the time of the accident, she was a permitted driver of the vehicle insured by the 

Policy. 

2.1 

2.2. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

Jurisdiction in King County Superior Court is proper pursuant to RCW 2.08.010. 

Venue in this court is proper pursuant to RCW 4.12.025 as Allstate transacts 

business, has an office for transaction of business, and did transact business in King County, 

Washington, at all relevant times. 
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2.3 All conditions precedent to the commencement of this action have been 

performed or have occurred. 

Ill. NATURE OF ACTION 

3.1 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya was injured in an automobile crash on or about 

November 23, 2012. The accident occurred at or near NE 4th Street, Bellevue, Washington. 

At the time of this accident, Natalya Zrazhevskaya was a minor. 

3.2 This action arises from defendants Allstate's, Smith's and Mead's refusal to make 

8 a reasonable offer to settle Ms. Natalya Zrazhevskaya's claim for damages under the UIM 

9 policy, and requiring plaintiff to file a civil lawsuit to resolve the dispute. 
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3.3 The automobile collision occurred when Progressive Insurance's underinsured 

driver, Shaharam Hashemi, drove a 1998 Jeep Wrangler into the rear of the 1997 Chrysler Cirru~ 

operated by Plaintiff, in Bellevue, WA. 

3.4 

3.5 

Shaharam Hashemi failed to stop his vehicle and caused the auto accident. 

Underinsured driver Shaharam Hashemi was the sole cause of the crash, and 

defendant Allstate does not dispute liability. Progressive paid plaintiff the policy limits of 

Shaharam Hashemi's bodily injury policy with Progressive. 

3.6 Defendant Allstate stands in the shoes of Shaharam Hashemi for purposes of 

liability for damages. 

3. 7 Defendants Allstate, Smith and Mead have compelled the plaintiff to take legal 

action by refusing to make a coverage decision regarding plaintiff's claim and thus refusing to 

make a reasonable UIM offer. In addition, this action arises from the defendants' actions and 

conduct in the investigation, evaluation, handling, negotiation, demand for trial, resolution 

and/or settlement or payment of plaintiff's claim for UIM damages. 

3.8 Through its negligent and unreasonable adjustment practices, defendants 

Allstate, Smith and Mead delayed and essentially denied plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya the UIM 
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benefits she is entitled to as a resident relative and/or insured driver under the insurance 

policy. 

3.9 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya from a very early age was an accomplished dancer 

and won multiple awards and competitions at the highest levels for her age group. She had not 

only the expectation of a professional dancing career but also wanted that very badly, and her 

expectation was entirely reasonable not only because of her own accomplishments but also 

because her long-time dance partner, with whom she won competitions, turned professional 

himself following plaintiff's accident. 

3.10 In the aforesaid auto accident, Plaintiff suffered various general and special 

damages, including but not limited to physical injuries, past, current, and future medical 

expenses, pain and suffering, mental and emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life (past and 

future), permanency of injury, past lost wages, and loss of future earning capacity. 

3.11 On or about January 5, 2016, defendants Allstate and Smith made the first low-

ball offer. 

3.12 On or about February 3, 2016, Allstate and Smith made various misleading 

statement(s) and alleged facts that were not part of the medical records. 

3.13 Prior to June 1, 2018, defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead obtained various 

records and bills, including but not limited to records from plaintiff's treating medical doctor for 

the date of service on or about May 11, 2017, who, in relevant part, stated as follows: 

.... 1. This patient has no preexisting history of neck or back problem before this 
injury. Furthermore, she was able to compete at an extremely high level of 
physical capacity as a professionaldancer up until this injury accident and 
subsequent to that accident has been permanently disabled from pursuing the 
dancing career as she had before. She has to have settled into teaching and such 
activity continues to aggravate her residuals from this injury accident. 2. At this 
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point, she is left with permanent impairments with respect to her neck and back, 
as orthopedic literature clearly points out...Germane selected articles: #57b, 57, 
#56, #52 ... ... In other words, the motor vehicle trauma of 11/23/2012 resulted in a 
symptomatic injury to facet joints, which are permanent in nature, causing her to 
have the persistent residuals that she currently has. 4. Care received has been 
reasonable, medically necessary, and related to residuals to this injury accident. 

3.14 On June 1, 2018, plaintiff requested defendants Allstate and Mead to prevent 

spoliation of evidence for this claim. 

3.15 On or about June 4, 2018, defendants Allstate and Mead made another-low-ball 

offer to Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya. 

3.16 In October and November of 2018, plaintiff provided additional information, 

records, and bills to defendants Allstate and Mead, including but not limited to financia l 

information, past video performance, estimated expenses for dancing for 2013, 2014, 2015 and 

2016, federal tax returns for Plaintiff and her ex-dancing partner, a professional dancer. 

3.17 On or about November 27, 2018, defendants Allstate and Mead made another 

16 low-ball offer to Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya. 

17 3.18 Through their negligent and unreasonable adjusting practices, defendants 

1s Allstate, Smith, and Mead intentionally, negligently, and/or recklessly inflicted emotional, 

19 mental, and physical distress upon plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya. 

2 0 

2 1 

22 

23 

3.19 Defendants Allstate's, Smith's and Mead's failure to make a reasonable offer(s) 

under plaintiff's UIM coverage was unreasonable and motivated by its/her/their own financial 

interest. 

3.20 Defendants Allstate, Smith and Mead are unreasonably shifting the burden of 

2 4 loss to their insured, plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya. Defendant Allstate advertises that "You're 

25 
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in Good Hands." Defendant Allstate failed to stand by its advertising slogan. This constitutes 

false information and advertising in violation of RCW 48.30.040. 

3.21 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya complied with all duties, responsibilities, and 

requirements of the policy of insurance with defendant Allstate. 

3.22 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya has fully complied with the 20-day notice 

requirement pursuant to the Insurance Fair Conduct Act. On or about October 24, 2018, 

Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya sent a 20-day notice (dated October 23, 2018} pursuant to IFCA 

to defendant Allstate and the Commissioner requesting Allstate to resolve the claim-handling 

and payment issues to plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya for defendant Allstate's uncooperative 

and unreasonable settlement practices prior to litigation (hereunder "First IFCA Notice"). 

3.23 On or about December 6, 2018, after additional negotiations with defendants 

Allstate and Mead, Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya sent a second 20-day notice (dated December 

4, 2018} pursuant to IFCA to defendant Allstate and the Commissioner (hereunder "Second 

IFCA Notice"). 

3.24 Defendants Allstate and/or Mead failed to resolve the basis for Natalya 

Zrazhevskaya's IFCA claim in the twenty-day period authorized by IFCA. 

3.25 Plaintiff incorporates by this reference all of the preceding paragraphs as if fully 

set forth herein for each cause of action below. 

IV. ENTITLEMENT TO UIM DAMAGES 

4.1 Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya is entitled to an award of damages under the UIM 

coverage for all economic and non-economic losses as provided by law. 

5.1 

V. VIOLATION OF THE INSURANCE FAIR CONDUCT ACT {IFCA) 

Defendants Allstate's, Smith's and Mead's actions are a violation of IFCA, 

25 codified as RCW 48.30.015. Defendants have acted unreasonably and have violated other rules 
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including, but not limited to, those contained in WAC 284-30-330(1), (3), (4), (6), (7) and (13), 

WAC 284-350(1) & (2) and WAC 284-30-370. Defendants Allstate, Smith and Mead breached 

numerous WAC requirements, including, but not limited to, the following: 

• Misrepresenting pertinent facts or insurance policy provisions. 

• Failing to acknowledge and act reasonably promptly upon communications with 

respect to claims arising under insurance policies. 

• Failing to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt 

investigation of claims arising under insurance policies. 

• Refusing to pay claims without conducting a reasonable investigation. 

• Failing to affirm or deny coverage of claims within a reasonable time after fully 

completed proof of loss documentation has been submitted. 

• Not attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair, and equitable 

settlements of claims in which liability has become reasonably clear. 

• Compelling a first party claimant to initiate or submit to litigation, arbitration, or 

appraisal to recover amounts due under an insurance policy by offering 

substantially less than the amounts ultimately recovered in such actions or 

proceedings. 

• Failing to promptly provide a reasonable explanation of the basis in the 

insurance policy in relation to the facts or applicable law for denial of a claim or 

for the offer of a compromise settlement. 
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• Failing to fully disclose to first party claimants all pertinent benefits, coverages or 

other provisions of an insurance policy or insurance contract under which a claim 

is presented. 

• Concealing from first party claimants benefits, coverages or other provisions of 

any insurance policy or insurance contract when such benefits, coverages or 

other provisions are pertinent to a claim. 

• Failing to complete its investigation of a claim within thirty days after notification 

of claim. 

Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya is a first party cla imant under RCW 48.30.015, as 

she is "an individual ... asserting a right to payment as a covered person under an insurance 

policy or insurance contract arising out of the occurrence of the contingency or loss covered by 

such a policy or contract." RCW 48.30.015(4); see also Urban v. Mid-Century Ins .• 79 Wn.App. 

798 (1995). At the time of her injury, Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya was a resident relative, a 

minor, and the insured driver, thus a covered person under Allstate's Policy held/purchased by 

her parent(s). 

5.3 As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' conduct and actions/non-

actions, plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya has suffered damages (including but not limited to 

general and special damages, costs, and legal fees) in an amount to be proven at the time of 

trial. 

VI. BREACH OF GOOD FAITH DUTY 

6.1 Defendants Allstate' s actions are in violation of RCW 48.01.030, RCW 48.30.010, 

24 RCW 48.30.015 and other statutes, regulations, common law and the duty of good faith and fair 

25 
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dealing requiring that all their actions be actuated by good faith, to abstain from deception, and 

practice honesty and equity in all matters related to the business of insurance. 

6.2 Defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead had/have a duty to act in good faith, 

which required all of defendants Allstate's, Smith's and Mead's actions be actuated by good 

faith, that they abstain from deception and practice honesty and equity in all insurance matters 

and they deal fairly with its insured, giving equal consideration to the insured's interest. 

6.3 As a direct and proximate result of defendants' conduct and actions, plaintiff 

8 Natalya Zrazhevskaya suffered damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 
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VII. BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 

7.1 Defendant Allstate, by virtue of its position and authority to practice insurance in 

the State of Washington, owes a fiduciary or quasi-fiduciary duty and enhanced obligation of 

fairness to its insureds from whom it accepted premiums and for whom it agreed to provide 

insurance protection, including UIM coverage. 

7.2 Defendant Allstate's actions/non-actions are in violation of the standards set 

forth in WAC 284-30 et seq., Unfair Claims Settlement Practices, as well as in violation of other 

statutory laws and regulations specifically including, but not limited to, WAC 284-30-330(1), (3), 

(4), (6), (7) and (13), WAC 284-350(1), WAC 284-30-370 and WAC 284-30-380(1). 

7.3 Defendant's actions, as described herein, are in violation of its fiduciary or quasi-

fiduciary duties and have resulted in damages to plaintiff in an amount to be proven at trial. 

8.1 

VIII. BREACH OF THE CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT 

Defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead are in violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act (CPA), RCW 19.86., et seq. 

8.2 Defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead engaged in an unfair or deceptive act or 

25 practice in trade or commerce that impacts the public interest, which causes injury to the party 
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in plaintiff's business or property, and which injury is causally linked to the unfair or deceptive 

act. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia Inc. 165 Wn.2d 122, 134, 196 P.3d 664 (2008). 

8.3 Plaintiff alleges Defendant Allstate has a policy to deny coverage and insurance 

benefits/payments and unreasonably prolong the claims process, thereby making it as 

expensive, long, and drawn out as possible and requiring the hiring of counsel to prosecute 

these claims. 

8.4 Defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead violated other statutory obligations set 

8 forth in this Complaint to act in good faith in all insurance matters, which constitutes a per se 

9 violation of the CPA. 
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8.5 Defendants Allstate's, Smith's, and Mead's actions in violation of the CPA entitle~ 

plaintiff to treble damages, reasonable attorney fees, costs of suit, injunctive and other relief as 

permitted by statute. 

IX. BREACH OF CONTRACT 

9.1 Defendant Allstate's actions are in violation of the express or implied terms and 

conditions of the insurance contract, including common law incorporated into the insurance 

contract and/or the reasonable expectations of an insured, as to the terms and conditions of 

the insurance policy. 

9.2 Plaintiff's insurance policy with defendant Allstate states in pertinent part: 
Part VI 

Underinsured Coverage 
Coverage SS 

We will pay damages which an insured person is legally entitled to recover from 
the owner or operator of an underinsured motor vehicle because 
of bodily injury sustained by an insured person. Bodily Injury means bodily 
injury, sickness, disease or death. We will pay those damages which an insured 
person is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an 
underinsured motor vehicle because of property damage sustained to an insured 
motor vehicle ... The bodily injury or property damage must be caused by an 
accident and arise out of the ownership, maintenance or use of an underinsured 
motor vehicle ... 
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9.3 

Insured Persons 
(1) You and any resident relative. 

(2) Any person while in, on, getting into or out of an insured motor vehicle. 
(3) Any other person who is legally entitled to recover because of bodily injury to 
you, a resident relative, or an occupant of your insured auto. 
An insured motor vehicle is a motor vehicle: 
(1) described on the Policy Declarations. 

Defendant Allstate has breached the insurance contract with plaintiff by failing 

7 to pay Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya for bodily injury sustained in this accident. 
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9.4 As a direct and proximate result of defendant's breach of the terms and 

conditions of the insurance contract, Plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya has suffered damages in an 

amount to be proven at trial. 

X. NEGLIGENCE 

10.1 Defendants' actions, as described herein, were negligent and in violation of their 

duty to exercise reasonable care towards plaintiff, thereby causing injuries and damages to the 

plaintiff in an amount to be proven at the time of trial. These damages include fair and 

reasonable compensation for physical injuries, past, current, and future medical expenses, pain 

and suffering, including but not limited to mental and emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of 

life (past and future), and permanency of injury, plus past lost wages and loss of future earning 

capacity, in an amount to be proven at the time of trial. 

XI. ESTOPPEL 

11.1 Defendant Allstate is estopped from denying or limiting coverage as a result of 

23 its actions or conduct described herein. 

24 

25 
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XII. DAMAGES 

12.1 As a direct and proximate result of the negligence alleged herein by the 

underinsured motorist Hashemi, plaintiff has suffered significant physical injuries and is entitled 

to fair and reasonable compensation under the UIM coverage with defendant Allstate, 

including but not limited to: 

- For medical expenses (past, present, and future) and other out-of-pocket 

expenses; 

- For past, present, and future physical pain and suffering; 

- For mental and emotional distress, loss of enjoyment of life (past, present, and 

future), past and future disability, and permanency of injury; 

- For past, present, and future wage losses. 

12.2 Legal costs and expenses incurred as a result of being compelled to institute a 

15 cause of action to compel defendant Allstate to satisfy its contractual and statutory obligations 

16 under the contract and policy of insurance with plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya. 
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12.3 By virtue of defendant Allstate's breach of the insurance contract, defendant 

Allstate is liable for the full amount of plaintiff's claims. 

12.4 Defendant Allstate is liable for damages which directly and proximately resulted 

from defendant Allstate's Breach of Good Faith Duty, Violation of the Washington Insurance 

Fair Conduct Act, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Breach of Contract, Violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, and any other damages permitted by law in an amount to be determined at or 

before trial. 
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12.5 Defendants Smith and Mead are liable for damages which directly and 

proximately resulted from defendant Allstate's Breach of Good Faith Duty, Violation of the 

Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act, Breach of Fiduciary Duty, Violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, and any other damages permitted by law in an amount to be determined at or 

before trial. 

12.6 Punitive damages. Defendants' actions have been motivated by its/her/their 

own financial interest and done with indifference to the rights and interests of its insured, 

plaintiff Natalya Zrazhevskaya, or conducted with reckless, willful or wanton disregard under 

the laws of the State where defendant Allstate is incorporated, or where its principal place of 

business is located, or where the decisions, policies, or acts were decided, entitling plaintiff 

Natalya Zrazhevskaya to exemplary or punitive damages, including but not limited to punitive 

damages available under the Washington Consumer Protection Act and Insurance Fair Conduct 

Act. 

12. 7 Reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred in the prosecution of this action and 

for treble and other exemplary damages authorized by the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct 

Act, codified as RCW 48.30.015, and reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred in the 

prosecution of this action and for treble damages authorized by RCW 19.86.090 of the 

Consumer Protection Act with respect to each such violation committed by defendants Allstate, 

plaintiff's fiduciary insurance carrier(s), and reasonable attorney fees pursuant to Olympic 

Steamship Co., vs. Centennial Ins. Co., 117 Wn.2d 37,811 P.2d 673 (1991). 
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XIII. NOTICES TO DEFENDANTS 

13.1 Plaintiff provides this notice as a courtesy. In the event that defendant(s) or 

defense attorneys and representatives, in their answer or any other pleading filed in this action, 

raise any defenses that are baseless, plaintiffs hereby give notice that they may request CR 11 

sanctions for the filing of a baseless pleading. 

13.2 Plaintiff reserves the right to amend this Complaint either before or during trial, 

which amendments may include but are not limited to additional legal theories for liability or 

damages incurred, counterclaims, defenses, crossclaims or to conform the pleadings to the 

proof offered at the time of trial. 

XIV. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

Plaintiff prays for judgment against defendants Allstate, Smith, and Mead as follows: 

14.1 For a judgment of liability against defendants for bad faith, and other claims and 

15 damages as set forth in this Complaint; 

16 

17 
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20 
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25 

14.2 For an award of special damages for plaintiff in such amounts as are proven at 

trial; 

14.3 For an award of general damages for plaintiff in such amounts as are proven at 

trial; 

14.4 For an award of attorney's fees, costs, exemplary, treble and punitive damages 

pursuant to contract, CPA, common law, statute, or regulation, or in equity in an amount to be 

proven at trial, including but not limited to plaintiff's costs, disbursements, and attorney's fees 

under Olympic Steamship Co. v. Centennial Insurance Co., 117 Wn. 2nd 37,811 P.2d 673 (1991), 

RCW 19.86.090 and RCW 48.30.015. 
COMPLAINT FOR UIM DAMAG ES - 14 Law Office of James F. Whitehead 

2211 Elliott Avenue, Suite 200 
Seattle, WA 98121 
Tel. 206.448.0100 
Fax: 206.455.2701 



E15

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

1 9 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

14.5 For an award of treble damages, costs and attorney fees pursuant to the 

Insurance Fair Conduct Act in an amount to be proven at trial; 

14.6 For an award of damages compensating plaintiff for her costs and disbursements 

herein in an amount to be proven at trial; 

14. 7 For a declaration of rights as set forth herein; 

14.8 Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

14.9 For injunctive relief as set forth herein; 

14.10 For such other and further relief as the Court deems just, equitable, and proper 

for plaintiff at the time of trial. 

DATED THIS 3rd day of January, 2019. 
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BY: 

s/ James F. Whitehead 

James F. Whitehead, WSBA #6319 
Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 
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Co-Counsel for Plaintiff 
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